IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC05-457

MICHAEL A. TANZI,

Appellant,

-VS-

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SIXTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT OF FLORIDA IN AND FOR MONROE COUNTY

BENNETT H. BRUMMER Public Defender Eleventh Judicial Circuit of Florida 1320 NW 14th Street Miami, Florida 33125 (305) 545-1961

ANDREW STANTON Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 0046779

Counsel for Appellant

INTRODUCTION

This is a direct appeal from judgments of conviction and sentences of death, entered a guilty plea before the Honorable Richard Payne of the Sixteenth Judicial Circuit in and for Monroe County, Florida. In this brief, the clerk's record on appeal is cited as "R.," and the transcript of the proceedings as "T."

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Michael Tanzi's Childhood

Michael was born into a family remarkable for mental illness and substance abuse. One of his aunts suffered from depression and attempted suicide. (T. 1158). One uncle had been hospitalized in a psychiatric institution, while another received outpatient psychiatric treatment. (T. 1158). One of Michael Tanzi's uncles committed suicide by shooting himself in the head **during a telephone conversation with Michael** (T. 1158). Three of Michael's nephews were diagnosed with attention deficit disorder. (T. 1158). Two of his uncles had a history of drug or alcohol abuse. (T. 1159). One of Michael's cousins died of a heroin overdose. (T. 1159). His stepfather was an alcoholic. (T. 1159).

The formative event of Michael Tanzi's childhood in Massachussetts was his father's death of pancreatic cancer. (T. 1090;1100). Before he became ill, Michael's father had a loving relationship with his son. (T. 1360). After he got sick, about a year-and-a-half before his death, Michael's father became verbally and physically abusive. (T. 1360, 1364). Once Mr. Tanzi realized he would not live long, he became aggressive in an attempt to make his son grow up quickly. (T. 1364). Michael's mother explained:

Michael's father was trying to make Michael grow up too fast. He'd yell at him and snap at him and slap him and just us [sic] trying to make him grow up because we knew he wasn't going to be around.

(T. 1364).

Near the time of his father's death, 8-year-old Michael was befriended by a boy five years his senior. (T. 1091, 1362). Linda Sanford, a forensic social worker who evaluated Michael in 1994, said that the older boy, also named Michael, was Michael's "neighbor, father figure, best friend, only friend." (T. 1080; 1092). Young Michael's "father figure" anally raped him, sexually fondled him and exposed him to pornography over a period of five years. (T. 1091-93).

Shortly before the end, Michael's real father suffered a stroke. Michael's mother took him to the hospital, where he died. (T. 1090). Michael did not believe his father was in the casket. (T. 1281). It was at this time that Michael first started to hear voices. (T. 1281).

Michael blamed his mother for his father's death, thinking that by taking him to the hospital she had caused him to die. (T. 1090, 1281, 1365). Michael also became very jealous of his mother at this time, not wanting her to be out of his sight or to speak to any other child his age. (T. 1364). When Michael's mother

2

tried to take him to family functions, Michael would act out or fight until she was forced to leave. (T. 1364-65). When Mrs. Tanzi began to bring boyfriends home, Michael was exposed to his mother having sex with a series of men. (T. 1164). Michael believed his mother was being abused. (T. 1164). He began to have masturbatory fantasies about her relationships with other men and about having sex with her himself. (T. 1164; 1345).

It was the year of his father's death, the year the older Michael began sexually abusing him, that eight-year-old Michael began to get in trouble. (T. 1362). Michael had always been "wired," a fitful sleeper, difficult to soothe or calm down. (T. 1090). But now, he argued with the school principal, got into fights, played with matches. (T. 1362). This was a change from his earlier behavior. (T. 1362).

Michael's condition and behavior grew steadily worse in the years following his father's death. Elementary school records indicate he was diagnosed with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder as early as the second grade. (T. 1084; 1087; 1281). He had low self-esteem, neurologic deficits, and possible perceptual motor delays. (T. 1282). Michael found it difficult to make friends. (T. 1084). He had to be taken to the hospital after he hyperventilated during an argument with his mother. (T. 1282). In the fourth grade, he was suspended for being aggressive toward teachers. (T. 1084). In one incident, he was arguing with other children and put his hand through a window, shearing his tendons. (T. 1372). At age 11, Michael was again diagnosed with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder and was put on Ritalin. (T. 1282; 1368). When Michael was 11 or 12, his mother put a lock on her bedroom door because Michael would come into her room at night and stand over the bed staring down at her. (T. 1371-72). At one point he threatened to stab his mother with gardening shears. (T. 1365). Michael began stealing, setting fires, being a peeping Tom, and skipping classes. (T. 1095; 1366). Records show that Michael was hearing voices at age 14. (T. 1284).

The older Michael's ongoing anal rape and abuse of Michael Tanzi was not revealed until later when Michael was institutionalized. (T. 1092; 1366). But clues began to appear as Michael in turn acted out sexually. When he was only 11, he offered a younger girl money to have sex with him. (T. 1095). Later, he forced a girl to kiss him against her will. (T. 1095). Immediately before his first psychiatric commitment, he exposed himself to a younger girl. (T. 1096).

Michael's Adolescence

Michael's adolescence was spent being shuttled among residential mental health programs, first in 1991, when Michael, then thirteen, was committed to a locked psychiatric facility at Pembroke Hospital. (T. 1082; 1084). He was discharged with a diagnosis of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder, and conduct disorder, solitary aggressive type. (T. 1084; 1457-58).

Michael was placed in specialized foster care. (T. 1084). After one month,

the foster mother became "very uncomfortable" with Michael, and asked that he be removed. (T. 1084-85). Michael was then transferred to the Phaneuf Center in Brockton, Massachusetts, for a four-month treatment program, after which further residential treatment was required. (T. 1085).

A January 1992 psychological evaluation reported grave concern about Michael's functioning. (T. 1083; 1088). Dr. Maya Pruett found an unusual merger of sexuality and violence in a fourteen-year-old. (T. 1083; 1089). She also noted Michael's highly distorted view of reality, exemplified by his belief that he was "actually the victim" in a given situation when in reality he had been "the perpetrator." (T. 1089). Dr. Pruett concurred in earlier findings of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. (T. 1088).

In February 1992, Michael was transferred to the Pilgrim Center, a chronically-understaffed residential program that did not provide Michael with the specialized treatment he needed for his aggression and sexual behavior problems. (T. 1085). According to forensic social worker Linda Sanford, Michael was "just basically being housed there." (T. 1085).

This warehousing of Michael Tanzi continued for nearly a year. In January 1993, Michael, now fifteen years old, was transferred to the Brightside Center in Springfield, Massachusetts. (T. 1083; 1086). Though Brightside was considered "state of the art," Michael did not show any progress until the fall, when Michael

was caught committing frottage against one of his teachers. (T. 1093). The staff felt that they were able to use this incident to make progress in Michael's treatment, but by then he was ten months behind in the program. (T. 1093). They had just begun trying to teach Michael techniques such as covert sensitization¹ when he was discharged, still at an elementary level. (T. 1102-04). Michael's doctors recommended keeping him in the program for another year. (T. 1092-93).

This recommendation was overridden: Michael's mother overestimated his progress, and wanted him closer to home, (T. 1093; 1370-71), and social services, faced with a budget crisis, was not eager to pay for extended treatment. (T. 1093). Against the advice of his doctors, Michael was discharged prematurely in May of 1994, with diagnoses of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder, conduct disorder, and pedophilia. (T. 1088, 1093).

It did not take long for the folly of this decision to become clear. Back in his mother's home, Michael began making sexually violent obscene phone calls to a neighbor, as many as 25 to 30 calls a day. (T. 1094; 1372). He also made harassing phone calls to his aunt. (T. 1372). By July 1, 1994, Michael had been arrested and committed to yet another residential treatment program, the Chamberlain School. (T. 1094).

Michael did poorly at Chamberlain. (T. 1094). He stared at the girls there

¹ Covert sensitization involves pairing deviant fantasies with fantasies of negative consequences. (T. 1104-05).

and made them uncomfortable. (T. 1094). He masturbated compulsively. (T. 1094). Michael was assigned to a female therapist, but she eventually refused to work with him because of his sexually violent fantasies about her. (T. 1094). He participated in a sex offenders' group, but that too was run by a female therapist, and did not work. (T. 1096-97). Michael seemed to be unable to understand that he had a continuing problem. (T. 1099). He seemed now unable to learn to use covert sensitization. (T. 1105; 1107-09). Only medication helped relieve his compulsive sexual fantasies. (T. 1096). Linda Sanford, who supervised Michael's treatment there, explained his functioning at this time:

[H]e was retreating into these violent fantasies quite a bit. When he didn't understand what was asked of him academically or socially or in relationship to other kids, he would just go into his own mind and have these sexually violent fantasies. That was his retreat. And by 17 years old he was pretty much compulsive about it. The prognosis was not good. (T. 1100).

Another evaluator at Chamberlain observed:

[Michael] was a deeply feeling kid with a lot of anxiety and a lot of pain that he was totally out of touch with. And so what would happen often is that Michael's feelings would sort of overwhelm him at times, and that would be when he would act out. (T. 1099).

Despite the fact that he could have signed himself out in February of 1995,

Michael chose to remain at Chamberlain. (T. 1099). Once he achieved his high school diploma through the program, however, his funding was slashed. (T. 1099).

The Chamberlain School tried to get Michael into various highly supervised

independent living programs, but he was rejected by all of them. (T. 1098). Michael was discharged into the community in August, 1995 at the age of 18. (T. 1097-98).

Michael's Adult Years

In the years that followed, Michael was frequently in trouble. (T. 1375). He abused alcohol and drugs, including marijuana and cocaine. (T. 1163). In 1997 he was hospitalized after taking an overdose of inderal, which he sometimes admitted and sometimes denied was a suicide attempt, though he was then diagnosed with major depression. (T. 1155, 1535). In the next year, Michael was repeatedly hospitalized for depression and substance abuse. (T. 1156-57). Finally, in January, 1998, Michael was arrested for offenses including more obscene phone calls, and was sent to Taunton State hospital for a four-month period of observation. (T. 1154-55; 1375; 1493; 1536). An evaluation there indicated posttraumatic stress disorder, polysubstance abuse and antisocial personality disorder. (T. 1286-87; 1494).

In August of 1998, Michael Tanzi was arrested in Massachusetts in connection with a car theft, pled guilty to breaking and entering and receiving a stolen motor vehicle, and was sentenced to jail followed by probation. (T. 81-84). He was released from jail a year later, in August, 1999. (T. 100).

Michael then drifted to New York, where he lived on the streets. (T. 1039; 1244). He attached himself to a street performer, a 50 year old drummer named

Ronald Williams. (T. 1039; 1050). Williams paid Michael to watch the drums and help him set up. (T. 1040). Michael would sleep outside on the street to watch the drums, "because it was basically the only thing that I had." (T. 1041). Over the ensuing months, Michael became fixed in orbit around the older man, following Williams around the country as he performed, traveling in a van to Washington, D.C., Savannah, Jacksonville, Tampa, Miami, New Orleans, and Key West. (T. 966; 1042-46).

Ronald Williams cast Michael out from this world on April 23, 2000. (T. 969; 1051). Williams and his wife were tired of sharing a hotel room with Michael and thought he was stealing. (T. 1969, 1050-51). Williams drove Michael back to Miami and left him on the streets with \$40 for bus fare to Massachusetts. (T. 969; 1051-52). Michael spent the next day on South Beach, drinking and smoking all night long, sleeping on the beach that morning. (T. 1051-53).

The Crime

Later that day, Michael walked along the MacArthur Causeway, desperate for a way to get back to Key West. (T. 992-994). When he reached Watson Island and the Japanese Gardens, he found Janet Acosta, who was sitting in her van. (T. 393; 992). According to Michael's recorded confessions, he forced his way into the van, struck Ms. Acosta, and drove away with her toward the Keys. (T. 994-96). When he reached Homestead, he forced her to perform oral sex on him, and bound and gagged her. (T. 413-14; 996-98; 1003-04). Michael forced Ms. Acosta to reveal her bank PIN, and stopped at ATMs along the way to retrieve cash. (T. 1001). When he reached Cudjoe, Michael proceeded to a secluded area at the end of Blimp Road, where he strangled Janet Acosta with a rope he found in the van, and left her body. (T. 418-19; 1008-18).

Michael continued to Key West, spending Janet Acosta's money there on crack cocaine, marijuana, alcohol, and clothing. (T. 450; 1021-26). He did not attempt to disguise or discard the van, and he continued to use Ms. Acosta's ATM card. He told acquaintances that his mother had won the lottery. (T. 928). Michael eventually caught up again with Ronald Williams, and took pictures of him performing. (T. 1029).

Following the trail of ATM activity, the detectives arrived in Key West on April 27, 2000, in search of the van which they found in fifteen minutes parked at the intersection of Front and Duval Streets, perhaps one of the most public places in Key West. (T. 262, 265-67; 453). Michael soon returned to the van, where the police arrested him. (T. 269-72; 957-60). He offered no resistance, and ultimately confessed on audio and video tape. (T. 402-18; 435-451; 455; 988-1060). Michael led the detectives to the body, and showed them where he had thrown out items from inside the van. (T. 394; 418-422; 457; 981).

A sample of Michael's blood taken April 28, 2000, tested positive for cocaine and marijuana. (T. 1288). Testing in the jail indicated Michael had a

Global Assessment of Functioning (GAF) of 35. (T. 1619). People with a GAF between 31 and 40 have "some impairment for reality testing or communication, or major impairment in several areas such as work, school, family relations, judgment, thinking or mood." (T. 1619-20). Dr. Raphael testified that Michael's records showed a chronically low GAF. (T. 1305).

The Guilty Plea

Michael Tanzi's attorneys advised him his best chance for a life sentence would be to plead guilty and waive the penalty phase jury. (R. 2340-42; 2408). Assistant Public Defenders Nancy Rossell and William Kuypers believed a jury would find Michael Tanzi guilty and recommend the death penalty. (R. 2131; 2340). Rossell – who was lead counsel – and Kuypers told Mr. Tanzi that Judge Payne had a reputation as a fair sentencer and was not seeking reelection, and that a judge-only sentencing would be his best chance for a life sentence. (R. 2131; 2341; 2407). The attorneys advised this course of action for at least two months, as reflected in handwritten notes of a meeting between Kuypers and Michael on November 27, 2002:

jury^[2] (R. 2264; 2420).

Although the attorneys had long been recommending this course of action, they did not research the law governing the waiver of the penalty phase jury until January 29, 2003, just two days before the guilty plea. (R. 2269; 2422-23).

On January 30, Michael agreed to enter a plea and waive the sentencing jury. (R. 2269; 2276; 2423-25). That day, Mr. Kuypers made the following entry in his Case Diary and Time Sheet: "saw ? at jail – wants to enter guilty plea under Alford; all charges except sex bats + waive jury for penalty phase." (R. 2269; 2425). Kuypers also generated a separate, handwritten note memorializing the decision. It reads: "JAIL 1-30-03 ® <u>Guilty</u> – Alford – all counts except 2 sex bats; waive jury for penalty phase." (R. 2276; 2425).

Michael changed his plea the following day. That morning, Kuypers presented him with two documents to review and sign. One was a standard change of plea form. (R. 2254-56; 2343; 2403). The other, titled, "Affidavit," was prepared by Kuypers himself. (R. 2257-60; 2344; 2403). The affidavit provides a more case-specific memorialization of the terms of the plea change and its consequences. In part, the affidavit specifies:

3. [Michael Tanzi] wishes to change his plea from not guilty to guilty in his best interest ...

 $^{^{2}}$ At the evidentiary hearing on the motion to withdraw the plea, Mr. Kuypers made the peculiar claim that this last notation was something Michael had said. (R. 2407). If so, Michael was only repeating his lawyers' advice. (R. 2340-42; 2408).

4. He understands that if the Court accepts his change of plea to first degree murder he is still entitled to a penalty proceeding before a twelve person jury and the Court for that offense after which he will receive either a life sentence in prison without parole or the death penalty...

5. Understanding that on the charge of first degree murder he has a right to a penalty proceeding before a twelve person jury, **he wishes to waive, or give up, his right to a jury for the penalty proceeding** on the charge of first degree murder that will follow this change of plea.

6. He wishes that the penalty proceeding on the charge of first degree murder be conducted solely by the judge without a jury and wishes to be sentenced solely by the judge without a jury.

7. He understands that by changing his plea to guilty in his best interest to each of the charges to which he is pleading and by choosing to be sentenced solely by the judge without a jury on the charge of first degree murder he gives up his right to appeal any preplea motions that he has made and that the Court has denied with respect to those charges to which he is changing his plea, including those motions relating to the constitutionality of Florida's death penalty statute after the recent U.S. Supreme Court ruling in the case of **Ring v. Arizona**, 122 S. Ct. 2428 (2002) relating to jury findings and the imposition of the death penalty. He has discussed that case with his attorney, has been provided with a copy of that case, and understands its provisions. (R. 2257-58).

Mr. Kuypers went over this document with Michael before he signed it. (R.

2344-45; 2427). As Michael later testified, when he entered the guilty plea he

believed he would receive a jury waiver and bench penalty phase as a result.

(R. 2345).

The defense attorneys never informed the trial court that the reason for

entering the guilty plea was to obtain a jury waiver. The defense attorneys feared that the prosecution might, if prepared, persuade the court not to accept the waiver. (R. 2131; 2401). They decided, therefore, to conceal the planned waiver until after the change of plea. (R. 2131; 2401). They withheld the detailed "Affidavit," which set forth Michel Tanzi's understanding of the plea, (R. 1887; 1921), and instructed Michael not to bring up the issue of the waiver during the plea colloquy. (R. 2345-46).

The trial judge was thus at a distinct disadvantage as he conducted the plea colloquy: He was deliberately kept in the dark regarding the primary reason for Michael's change of plea. While the judge was careful to question both Michael and his lawyers to make sure he understood he could still receive the death penalty, (R. 1888-89; 1897-98), he did not question Michael at all about his understanding of what might happen when the defense announced its intention to waive the penalty phase jury. Indeed, when the judge mentioned during the colloquy that a jury would recommend the appropriate sentence, no one brought up the anticipated waiver. (R. 1889; 1894).

This was not the only information that the attorneys kept from the judge in their eagerness to have the guilty plea accepted. They hid Michael's longstanding problems with his attorneys, particularly Ms. Rossell. Michael had masturbated in her presence, and he had made plainly delusional allegations to the predecessor Judge Mark Jones and to the Florida Bar, that she enjoyed watching him masturbate and had engaged in consensual touching with him. (R. 2045; 2069-74). As a result, Ms. Rossell – who as lead counsel had primary responsibility for the guilt phase – limited her visits with Michael and either brought witnesses to the meeting or sat outside his cell. (R. 2131-33).

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