IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC05-457

MICHAEL A. TANZI,

Appellant,

vs.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SIXTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT OF FLORIDA IN AND FOR MONROE COUNTY

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

MARGARITA I. CIMADEVILLA Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0616990 Office of the Attorney General Rivergate Plaza -- Suite 650 444 Brickell Avenue Miami, Florida 33131 PH. (305) 377-5441 FAX (305) 377-5655

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

cite to the transcript. However, careful review of the record reveals that the references were quite limited, as detailed above, specially in light of the fact, that the references were made during the State's brief rebuttal case, in a very lengthy penalty phase proceeding. Moreover, it was not argued in any regard to any aggravating factor.

Moreover, in <u>Colina</u> the impermissible evidence of lack of remorse referred to the instant crime. Here, all complained of references were to Defendant's past bad acts, which had been at the center of Defendant's presentation of mitigation. As explained above, two of the references were direct quotations to records upon which Defendant's experts relied for their diagnosis. The others were direct quotations from the DSM.

Defendant also relies on <u>Atwater v. State</u>, 626 So. 2d 1325 (Fla. 1993) and <u>Smithers v. State</u>, 826 So. 2d 916 (Fla. 2002), to argue that lack of remorse is impermissible even in the context of a diagnosis of antisocial personality. However, both these cases are distinguishable.

In <u>Atwater</u>, the State sought to impeach the Defendant's own expert, who had diagnosed the defendant with anti-social personality disorder, by asking, during cross-examination, whether persons with the disorder showed lack of remorse. Thus, in Atwater, the State was, in effect, turning the defendant's

proposed mitigation into an aggravating factor. Here, the thrust of Defendant's mitigation was that he had bipolar disorder, and the State, through its own witness and in rebuttal, sought to show that Defendant's characteristics, which had been apparent to many mental health experts before, were consistent with a different diagnosis. The distinction was a crucial one, as Defendant's expert testified bipolar disorder would affect a person's ability to appreciate the criminality of his conduct whereas the State's expert explained antisocial personality disorder does not. See Patton v. State, 878 So. 2d 368, 375 (Fla. 2004)(stating difference between a disorder and a disease is not insignificant); Elledge v. State, 706 So. 2d 1340, 1346 (Fla. 1997)(affirming death sentence where trial court denied statutory mental health mitigator based on the expert testimony that defendant had antisocial personality disorder and that such disorder is not a mental illness, but a life long history of a person who makes bad choices in life and that these choices are conscious and volitional). Thus, the evidence here was not being presented as an aggravating factor, but rather to rebut mitigation.

<u>Smithers</u>, too, is distinguishable. In <u>Smithers</u>, this Court found that the trial court had not abused its discretion in denying a motion for a mistrial based on a question of the

State's mental health expert that a person with antisocial personality disorder does not have remorse. <u>Smithers</u>, 826 So. 2d 916. This Court's analysis in finding no abuse of discretion and mention of the brevity of the comments and lack of argument of remorse, does not mandate a different result here.

In sum, lack of remorse was not argued to the jury or considered by the sentencing court in aggravation. Brief references were made to documents on which Defendant's own experts relied for their conclusions. The questions were posed during the State's rebuttal case and in the context of negating the mitigation presented, not in aggravation. Moreover, the court expressly instructed the jury it was not to consider lack of remorse as an aggravating factor. (R. 1399; T. 1675, 1801)

Furthermore, even if the questioning and closing comments had been erroneously considered, it is clearly harmless in the instant case. It is beyond a reasonable doubt that death would have been imposed even absent this evidence, given the overwhelming evidence establishing seven aggravators and the lacking mitigation. <u>State v. DiGuilio</u>, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1985); §59.041, Fla. Stat. (2002); <u>Yates v. Evatt</u>, 500 U.S. 391, 403 (1991).

III. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN PERMITTING IMPEACHMENT OF DEFENDANT'S EXPERT WITNESS REGARDING A SPECIFIC ACT OF MISCONDUCT IN AN UNRELATED MATTER TO ESTABLISH BIAS

In Defendant's next claim, he asserts that the trial court abused its discretion in permitting the State to impeach his expert, Dr. William Vicary, regarding an incident in which he falsified notes at the behest of a defense attorney. Defendant moved in limine to exclude this line of questioning, which motion was denied. (T. 1121, 1134)

Dr. Vicary had been retained as an expert in the California murder case against Eric and Lyle Menendez. In that case, Dr. Vicary had falsified certain notes that the defense attorney had told him would not be favorable to their case after she threatened to get him off the case. Subsequently, Dr. Vicary was disciplined for his action pertaining to the falsification of the notes and received a probationary discipline and a fine. Dr. Vicary admits to the underlying facts regarding these events. (T. 1121-22, 1148-51)

Below, the State argued, and the court agreed, that the questioning was permissible as it established bias. (T. 1134) Although impeachment by particular acts of misconduct is generally improper, Florida Statute §90.608 permits the impeachment of a witness by showing that the witness is biased. Moreover, how far an inquiry into bias may go is within the

discretion of the trial court. <u>Pandula v. Fonseca</u>, 199 So. 358 (Fla. 1941). Thus this Court must review the trial court's actions under an abuse of discretion standard. <u>Id.</u> at 360.

In the case of an expert witness, who is generally hired by one party or the other, bias is of particular importance. For this reason, inquiry into an expert's other work is relevant to show bias. <u>Henry v. State</u>, 574 So. 2d 66, 71 (Fla. 1991) (prosecution properly allowed to elicit that 98% of expert's clients were criminal defendants as questions were relevant to show bias, prejudice or interest). Similarly inquiry into how much income the expert is generating, not only from testifying in the particular case, but from testifying for a particular side in other cases, is likewise permissible.

In the instant case, Dr. Vicary's willingness to forge his interview notes at the behest of the defense attorney in order to assist the defense went directly to show his bias for the defense. It also went directly to his profitability as he admitted, had he not done so, he would have been fired. (T. 1149) Thus, this evidence went directly to bias.

Defendant relies on <u>Fernandez v. State</u>, 730 So. 2d 277 (Fla. 1999), <u>Farinas v. State</u>, 569 So. 2d 425 (Fla. 1990), <u>Tormey v. State</u>, 748 So. 2d 303 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999), and <u>King v.</u> State, 716 So. 2d 831 (Fla. 1998). Every one of these cases
establishes that the only proper line of impeachment into a witnesses character is questioning that goes to reputation for truthfulness. The inquiry here does not go to the witness' character, but, rather, his bias, which is expressly permitted by statute.

Moreover, in every one of the cases cited, the alleged act of misconduct had no relationship to bias. In <u>Fernandez</u>, the complained of questioning was with regard to whether, being clergy in whom the defendant had confided, the witness had violated his religious oath by telling the police about the defendant's statements. In <u>Farinas</u>, the improper questioning related to whether a defense witness had engaged in improper referral of patients to himself while employed by the government. Such conduct had no bearing whatsoever on bias.

<u>Tormey</u> is, likewise inapplicable. In <u>Tormey</u>, an expert witness was asked whether he had been disciplined for gross malpractice for an interpretation of an MRI. This questioning, again, was a clearly improper attack on character. Moreover, the court found the error harmless. Finally, King involved a defense attorney who sought to impeach plaintiff's two expert witnesses, both of whom had formerly been his clients, with details which he had learned through his earlier representation of the witnesses. Some of the questioning involved allegations

that the expert, a psychologist, had sexually battered a patient. Not only had the witness been acquitted of the charges, such had no relationship to bias in his testimony, and was purely character assassination. As none of the cases cited by Defendant address bias, they are entirely inapplicable to our discussion.

In sum, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in allowing the questions. The witness's willingness to perpetrate a fraud on a court of law so as not to risk his employment directly bore on his bias to testify favorably for Defendant. Thus, the questions were proper inquiry into bias as specifically authorized by Florida Statute §90.608.

Moreover, any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Having received an unfavorable ruling on the motion in limine, Defendant sought to soften the impact of the impeachment by asking preemptively on direct, thus, presenting a most sympathetic version of the events. Defendant also presented the testimony of another expert witness in support of the same mitigating factor. Finally, in light of the extensive aggravating factors proven, any error with respect to this limited area, must be deemed harmless. <u>DiGuilio</u>, 491 So. 2d 1129; §59.041, Fla. Stat. (2002); <u>Yates</u>, 500 U.S. 391.

IV. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN ADMITTING DEFENDANT'S CONFESSION TO SEXUAL BATTERY

Defendant next argues that the trial court abused its discretion in granting the State's motion to admit Defendant's confession to sexual battery. Defendant specifically argues that the court applied the wrong standard, failed to make the statutorily required findings and granted the motion in the absence of any evidence to corroborate the reliability of the confession.

As detailed above, included in Defendant's detailed confession to his crimes was the confession that he had forced Janet Acosta to perform oral sex while Defendant was holding her against her will, and after he had bound her, gagged her and threatened her with a razor. In that confession, he also stated he had threatened to kill her if she bit him. The State made a motion in limine pursuant to §92.565, Fla. Stat., as the State did not feel it could establish the *corpus delecti* with respect to this crime.

Section 92.565 eliminates corpus delicti as a predicate for the admission of a defendant's confession when the state is unable to show the existence of each element of the offense because the is either physically helpless, mentally victim incapacitated, mentally defective, or physically incapacitated. These factors are not exclusive. Once this predicate is established, "the state must prove by a preponderance of the evidence that there is sufficient corroborating evidence that tends to establish the trustworthiness of the statement . . .

." §92.565(3), Fla. Stat. (2000). The hearing must be conducted by the trial judge outside of the presence of the jury. §92.565(2), Fla. Stat. (2000). Specific findings of fact must be made by the trial judge on the record to support his or her ruling. §92.565(4), Fla. Stat. (2000). Thus, in these limited circumstances, corpus delicti is eliminated as the predicate for admission of the confession and the trustworthiness standard is substituted in its place.

[T]he trustworthiness doctrine under section 92.565 is a procedural mechanism utilized to admit a confession into evidence.

State v. Dionne, 814 So. 2d 1087, 1091-92 (Fla. 5th DCA 2002).

It should first be noted that the motion was made in contemplation of a guilt phase and prior to Defendant pleading guilty to the charges. The State contends, the standard contained in §92.565 does not apply to a penalty phase proceeding. The purpose of the *corpus delecti* predicate is to insure that "no person be <u>convicted</u> out of derangement, mistake, or official fabrication." <u>State v. Allen</u>, 335 So. 2d 823, 825 (Fla. 1976)(emphasis added). The trustworthiness doctrine under section 92.565 serves the same purpose. <u>State v. Dionne</u>, 814 So. 2d 1087, 1091-92 (Fla. 5th DCA 2002). This interpretation is also consistent with the well established principle that the State need not charge an offense in the guilt phase in order to argue the aggravator exists. <u>Turner v. State</u>, 530 So. 2d 45 (Fla. 1987).

Moreover, evidence of the statement's trustworthiness was amply established. The hearing on this motion was conducted simultaneously to the hearing on Defendant's motion to suppress the statements. After hearing evidence on the motion, the trial court found that the confessions were given voluntarily, after Defendant was advised repeatedly of his <u>Miranda</u> warnings, and that there was no evidence of Defendant's impairment or intoxication.

Defendant specifically complains that evidence no corroborating the statement was presented to the court at the time of the court's ruling. However, Defendant ignores that evidence was presented at the hearing regarding the fact that Defendant led police to the discovery of the victim's body (R. 1983-84), as well as testimony regarding the testing of blood on the victim's pants that matched Defendant's. (R. 1985) These facts corroborated Defendant's statement. The elicited corroboration, together with the ample evidence establishing that Defendant was alert, coherent, displayed remarkable memory of details of the events, including the exact balance remaining on the victim's bank account, as well as her PIN number, all amply established the reliability and trustworthiness of the statement.

Despite Defendant's assertion that the statement in question involves a confession to forcing the victim to perform oral sex, the confession in question in fact involves Defendant admitting to the abduction, binding and gagging, carjacking, robbery, use of her ATM card, strangulation of Janet Acosta and disposal of her body, all of which was corroborated in great detail through physical evidence presented at the penalty phase. See Chavez v. State, 832 So. 2d 730, 762-763 (Fla. 2002)(details defendant's confession matched well the physical of the evidence, evidence of victim's failure to return home from school showed abduction by force, the defendant's prints found on the victim's property, and evidence showed removal of clothing, and recovery of item of physical evidence where defendant indicated it would be found, all provided sufficient corroboration for the admission of defendant's confession and established corpus delecti of sexual battery); Schwab v. State, 636 So. 2d 3, 6 (Fla. 1994) (where evidence of death by manual asphyxiation, nude body and clothing concealed in remote location, defendants fingerprint on physical evidence found near the body all of which established that victim was held against his will, as well as details of the defendant's confession matching physical evidence found, "state submitted sufficient proof of the corpus delicti to admit Schwab's admissions that he

kidnapped and raped the victim"). See also <u>Opper v. United</u> <u>States</u>, 348 U.S. 84, 92 (U.S. 1954) (for confession to be corroborated, the corroborative evidence need not be sufficient, independent of the statements, to establish the *corpus delecti*, rather, the government must introduce substantial independent evidence which would "tend to establish the trustworthiness of the statement")

Furthermore, evidence corroborating the specific portion of the confession recounting the sexual battery was also elicited at the penalty phase. Evidence was presented that the victim's teeth had been knocked loose. Defendant had stated Ms. Acosta's teeth had been the reason he had stopped the sexual battery. He stated he threatened her with a razor not to bite him and razors were recovered from the victim's van.

Defendant specifically complains that the court stated the wrong standard and failed to make specific findings of fact. What Defendant ignores is that the two motions were heard together. The court clearly made findings of fact when it stated that there was no coercion or intoxication, and that the statement had been made voluntarily.

Defendant is also only partly correct when he argues that the sexual battery formed the basis of the felony aggravator. In fact the kidnapping, to which Defendant also voluntarily

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